# FILED

SID J WHITE

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN AUSTIN LANDRY, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. : NOV 17 1994

By \_\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 81,270

#### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR GLADES COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

A. ANNE OWENS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 284920

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Although the trial in this case is numbered separately from the court documents, the sentencing and other hearings are numbered consecutively to the court documents rather than the trial. These documents and hearings will be designated by the letter "R." The trial transcript will be designated by the letter "T." Documents and hearings in the first supplement to the record on appeal will be designated as "S1," and the those in the second supplement to the record on appeal as "S2."

The second supplement includes copies of the actual audiotapes of the codefendants' statements which were played for the jury. Because the actual audiotapes do not have page numbers, they will be referred to as "S2 -- tapes." The transcripts of the audiotaped statements which are part of the trial transcript will be referred to by the letter "T" like the rest of the trial transcript.

The issues in this brief are arranged and argued in approximate chronological order. Pursuant to this Court's denial of Landry's motion to exceed the 100 page limit for capital cases, the following meritorious issues were deleted from the original brief:

> 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S REQUEST FOR INDI-VIDUAL VOIR DIRE OF PROSPECTIVE JURORS WHO ADMITTED HAVING READ OR HEARD PRETRIAL PUBLICITY.

> 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUC-TION ON ABANDONMENT, WHICH WAS HIS THEORY OF DEFENSE.

Relevant parts of other issues, and some of the facts of the case, were also deleted to comply with this Court's order.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 3, 1992, the Appellant, John Austin Landry, and three codefendants were arrested in connection with the burglary and murder of Houston Edwin Downs. Landry was indicted by a Glades County grand jury for first-degree premeditated murder, firstdegree felony murder, and armed burglary on May 20, 1992. (R. 7-9) Through counsel, Landry filed a Demand for Speedy Trial on May 22, 1992. (R. 12) The court denied the demand June 25, 1992, and later denied several motions for discharge. (See Issue7s I and II)

Landry was finally tried by jury, Circuit Judge Jay Rosman presiding, on November 3 through 19, 1992. The jurors found him guilty as charged. (R. 471-72, T. 2091) They recommended death by a vote of seven to five on November 19, 1992. (R. 478)

Landry was sentenced to death for felony murder December 15, 1992. (R. 661-62) Although the judge said he would merge the premeditated murder into the felony murder conviction, he entered a life sentence for premeditated murder. The judge did not file a written sentencing order. (S1. 1361) Upon realizing he had not sentenced Landry for burglary, the judge held a second sentencing December 23, 1992. He departed from the recommended guidelines sentence of 12 to 17 years, sentencing Landry to a consecutive life sentence for burglary. No written order was made or filed for the burglary sentence (S2. 1636) and the judge did not sign the scoresheet which was filed December 28, 1992. (R. 633)

Notice of Appeal to this Court was filed January 11, 1993. (R. 639) The Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was designated to represent Landry in this appeal October 5, 1993.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Dawn Downs, age 32, married the victim in this case, Houston Edwin ("Ed") Downs, age 56, about two years prior to the homicide.<sup>1</sup> (T. 493, 553) Ed Downs did not have a regular job but dealt in real estate and rentals. He gave Dawn an allowance of \$1000 every two weeks. (T. 556) They built a cypress "cracker" house with a porch around it, in the middle of a woods in the Muse area of Glades County, off Tom Coker Road. The house had three bedrooms, six bathrooms, a fireplace with gun racks on both sides, and a pool. They also had a barn, three caretakers' houses and a cook house. The property included orange groves, a pond and a creek. In the barn, they kept tractors, a swamp buggy, a horse surrey, jeeps, three-wheeled motorcycles, and several other vehicles. (T. 493-98)

On Saturday night, May 2, 1992, Ed and Dawn went to bed at 10:00 p.m. Although Ed went right to sleep, Dawn watched "Sisters" on television until 11:00, at which time she also went to sleep. (T. 501) Their Jaguar and Dawn's Jeep Wagoneer were in the garage because they planned to drive the Jaguar to a family reunion the next day. Ed's truck, which was normally kept in the garage with Dawn's jeep, was in the barn. In his truck, Ed kept a set of house keys, a key to the front gate, and a garage door opener. (T. 505)

Dawn was awakened by gunfire and sat up in bed. She saw two figures to her right, holding guns, three or four feet from Ed's side of the bed. (T. 509) She did not get a good look at them

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The court excluded proffered evidence that Ed Downs was formerly married to Dawn's mother and Dawn was his stepdaughter. (T. 578-82) He also excluded evidence that Ed Downs was indicted for smuggling marijuana, prior to the homicide. (T. 570-79)

because she did not turn her head. She screamed and lay down on the floor. She kept her head down, "playing dead," with her hair around her head so she could not see anything. (T. 511, 559) The lights in the bedroom were dim. After a third shot, Ed took a deep breath, sighed, and she heard nothing more from him. (T. 512-13)

After the third shot, the intruders starting looking around, opening drawers, and rummaging through things. (T. 514) The voices sounded between ages 16 and 21. (T. 515) When the boys came near where her, one of them said, "fucking bitch" several times; then said, "fucking bitch is still alive." (T. 516) The other voice said, "No, man. I shot her." The first voice said, "The fucking bitch is still alive." The second voice said, "Man, don't do that, because she can't see anything anyway. Her face is to the ground." The boys continued rummaging around. (T. 517)

After leaving her head, the two boys walked out of the room. Then three voices came back into the room.<sup>2</sup> She heard two names. One said "John" said to check the closet or something. Another said "Rick" or "Rich" already checked that. They took her wallet, in which she normally kept \$300 to \$500, and threw her purse and wedding rings near her head. (T. 519-23) A gold bracelet that said "Ed's toy" in diamonds was also missing. (T. 537)

Ed Downs normally kept up to \$1000 in his pants pocket. His pants were found on the floor. Dawn and Ed each had a handgun on their respective sides of the bed. Dawn identified hers which was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Dawn Downs testified that only three intruders were in the room although four boys were charged and convicted. Dawn testified that the first two went out, then returned with a third person, and all three were in the room. (T. 560)

in a black case. (T. 525-27) Ed's gun was probably a .44 Magnum. It had been in a brown holster which she identified. (T. 527-29)

After about fifteen minutes, the boys left. (T. 529) Dawn waited about five minutes, then called Ed's name several times. He did not respond. She noted that it was about 1:20 a.m. The phone was dead. She did not try to check on Ed but instead ran out the sliding glass bedroom doors. She jumped the railing and ran to the house of caretakers Jacob and Kay Easterly. (T. 530-32)

Both caretakers, brothers Jacob (Charles) and Seldon Easterly, and their wives, Kay (Olive) and Nadine Easterly, described Dawn's arrival at their cottages that night. (T. 487F-490) While Jacob and Kay called 911, Dawn ran next door to awaken Seldon and Nadine. (T. 487K-487L) Dawn called Jack Watson, a lawyer friend of Ed's from Miami, and asked Nadine Easterly to call 911 and request John Brock, a detective with the Glades County Sheriff's Department. (T. 487FF, 563) Brock had been a friend for three years, had the combination to their gate, and lived nearby.<sup>3</sup> (T. 1087-88)

Nadine, Kay, Seldon and Dawn returned to the Downs home while Jacob Easterly opened the gate and directed law enforcement and medical personnel to the house. (T. 4872-487AA) When the law enforcement officers arrived, they performed CPR until Ed was transported to the hospital where he was pronounced dead. The doctor told Dawn he was killed instantly. (T. 534-36)

John Brock was dispatched to the Downs residence at 2:00 a.m.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Brock had been to the Downs home various times prior to the homicide. Afterwards, he helped Dawn move some furniture. (T. 567, 1285) The judge did not allow defense evidence that Brock had investigated reports of marijuana on their property. (T. 568-69)

(T. 1086) He called the Florida Department of Law Enforcement to assist with processing the crime scene. (T. 1094) Agent John King coordinated the investigation for FDLE. (T. 1301) Brock and King took a statement from Dawn when she returned from the hospital, and Brock met with her on other occasions. (T. 555, 1097)

Franklin Delph and Ricky Young were picked up by the Hendry County Sheriff's Department on a suspicious persons complaint, while walking through a residential area early the next morning. They were dirty, wet, and wore no shoes. Deputy Ed Campbell knew them. He notified John Brock because he had received a report of trouble in the Muse area of Glades County. (T. 590-95)

Brock and Bruce Woerner, FDLE, went to Hendry County and met with the two suspects. Young implicated David Sorton and John Landry. (T. 627-28) Both Young and Delph gave taped statements to the officers. (T. 1103-04) Young agreed to accompany them to the crime scene to show them where evidence was discarded. (T. 1172)

The officers picked up David Sorton at work and arrested him en route to Glades County. (R. 529-30) Sorton gave a taped statement that evening and showed the officers where part of the money was hidden. (T. 727) Although they were unable to locate Landry, he reported to the Glades County Sheriff's Department that afternoon upon learning that he was sought in connection with the crime. (T. 632, 641, 1176) Over defense objection, both Sorton's and Young's taped statements were played for the jury during Brock's testimony. (T. 1124-72, 1180-1268) (See Issue V, infra.)

The officers searched David Sorton's car at the crime scene after John King obtained a search warrant and read it to the car.

They found a roll of duct tape and a ski mask. (T. 1309-12) An FDLE crime lab analyst testified that hair found in the ski mask was consistent with Franklin Delph's head hair. (T. 1355)

Codefendant David Sorton, age 20, testified for the State pursuant to a plea agreement under which he pled guilty to seconddegree murder and first-degree burglary in exchange for his testimony against Landry and a twelve-year sentence. (T. 655, 659-60) Sorton was also promised a concurrent sentence on a pending charge. He understood that he might receive the death penalty if he did not enter into the agreement and cooperate with the State. (T. 732-35)

Sorton testified that, on the Saturday morning prior to the burglary and homicide, he drove Franklin Delph, 17, Ricky Young, 18, and John Landry, 20, to the Downs' residence in Muse. (R. 661, 811, 2117) They parked along a trail off the road and stayed in the woods along the property line. They were just looking around and did not stay long. Although someone suggested that Downs had marijuana plants growing, they found none. (R. 661-66, 745)

That evening, Sorton went to Mike Hinsley's house where Franklin was staying. John, Franklin, Ricky, Mike, and Mike's roommate were watching T.V. Either Franklin or Rick took a .22 semi-automatic rifle from Mike's house and put it in David's car without his knowledge. (R. 668-70, 747) Franklin, Rick, John and David left, and dropped off Rick and Franklin near John's house because John's mother did not like Franklin. David and John went to John's house. John's mother let them use her .22 pump action gun to go hunting. David recognized the gun because he cleaned it two years earlier. The spring was missing then. (T. 674-77)

The boys returned to the Downs' property and parked in the same place they parked before. John and Franklin had the rifles. David took his socks off to cover his hands to avoid leaving fingerprints. They walked around the house awhile looking through windows and trying doors. It was around 9:30 p.m. (T. 680-83)

They walked to the barn where the vehicles were kept. (T. 685) They saw people walking around on another part of the property and heard dogs barking, but did not see them. (R. 687-88) Eventually, they returned to the house and looked around the unlocked pool area. (R. 688) They tried to get in through the garage window but could not get the window open. (T. 691) Sorton cut the phone lines and Landry shut off the power by flipping a switch. (T. 692)

David and Rick returned to the barn where Rick found the house keys hanging in the truck. They entered the front door. (R. 694-95) David watched the door and Rick stayed by the pool table. John and Franklin, who had the rifles, went down the hall. David heard about four shots. Franklin came out of the bedroom appearing pale and shaken. He said, "I can't believe I did it." (T. 774)

David entered the bedroom, saw the man lying on the bed and went back out to join the others. They all went into the bedroom, at which time Sorton saw the lady lying on the floor face down. Sorton thought Franklin had a .44 revolver and Rick a .22 rifle. Either Franklin or Rick took the .44 out of the house. (T. 700-06)

John went up to the lady lying on the floor and said he thought she ("the bitch") was still alive. Franklin told John that he shot her. John had the gun in his hand but David did not think he was going to shoot her. David said he told John to leave her

alone, not to shoot her. John walked away. David thought Franklin and Ricky got some money (about \$1000 or so) in the bathrooms. (T. 798) They were in the house ten or fifteen minutes total. (T. 710)

Outside, they handed David the money to carry. (T. 709) He thought Ricky had the .44 when they left. John and Franklin had the same guns they brought. (T. 712) When they arrived at the pond, they started throwing things into it. They threw the guns, the flashlight, wire cutters and several sets of keys. (T. 713)

When they walked back to David's car, David discovered that he had thrown his car keys in the pond. (T. 783) Franklin tried to hot wire Sorton's car but could not get it started. (T. 715) At that point, they saw a car coming. Franklin and Ricky went one way and David and John went another way. While running through the woods, John told David that his gun got jammed and wouldn't shoot. He also suggested that David report his car stolen. (T. 716-17)

They walked to the home of a friend, Danny Reynolds, who lived in Fort Denaud. They awakened the family and told Danny that David's car broke down. Danny and his father drove them back to David's house at about 2:30 a.m. David's brother, Billy, and a friend, Chris Howell, had returned from a concert and were still up. (T. 718-20) David and John eventually told David's brother what really happened. They split the money. David hid his share under a lawnmower behind the house. He thought it was about \$1000. (T. 721-22) John left and David talked to Billy and Chris a little more. In the morning David reported the car stolen. (T. 723-24)

Ricky Young, age 18, gave a slightly different version of the events, in exchange for a seventeen-year sentence for second-degree

murder and first-degree burglary. (T. 811, 814) Ricky said he and Franklin Delph first discussed the burglary on the Thursday prior to the homicides. Franklin and John Landry planned to tape up the victims with duct tape and scare them with guns so they would open the safe. (T. 816) Rick asked to join them. (T. 902)

On Saturday morning, the four of them went to the Downs' estate in David Sorton's car to see if anyone was home. When it appeared that someone was home, they decided to return later to burglarize the place. (T. 818-19) According to Rick, John said he had worked for the man and the safe contained \$500,000.4 (T. 820)

Ricky claimed that it was John who borrowed the semi-automatic .22 rifle from Mike Hinsley, to go hunting. (T. 824-26) When they arrived at the Downs' residence, however, Franklin had the semiautomatic and John had the .22 pump he got from his mother's house. (T. 836) After they circled the house and explored the barn for more than two hours, Ricky suggested that the vehicles in the barn probably had keys in them and might have a key to the house. (T. 850, 860) Ricky found the keys hanging in the truck. (T. 854-55) One of the keys opened the front door. (T. 857, 859)

When John and Franklin entered the bedroom, Ricky hid behind the pool table. He saw a lot of guns around and was afraid the man would come out shooting. He thought David was nearby. (T. 863-64) He heard a faint scream and some shots. When John and Franklin emerged from the bedroom, Franklin said, "Man, I can't believe I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> No evidence indicated that John Landry ever worked for Ed Downs. Landry testified that he did not know Ed or Dawn Downs and had never worked for them. (T. 1840) Dawn Downs testified that she had never met any of the defendants before. (T. 1893)

did that." John was trying to calm Franklin. John and Franklin were scared. At that point, all four of them walked outside the residence. Franklin told them the man had grabbed the front of his gun. John fired a shot, but then his gun jammed. (T. 864-66)

When Rick finally went into the bedroom, he saw the man on the bed and a woman face down on the floor. (T. 868) He looked for a safe but did not find one. John was standing over the woman and said, "The fucking bitch is still alive." Ricky said, "no, man, no she ain't. . . Don't worry about it man, she can't see anyway." John walked off. (T. 873-76) Someone found a .22 revolver and Rick threw it under the bed because John told them not to take anything. Franklin found a .44 revolver and put it in his waist. (T. 878-79) John took about \$1000, but he took nothing. (T. 883-84)

When they got to the pond, Ricky grabbed Franklin's .22 rifle and threw it in the pond. (T. 885-86) They returned to David's car and found that he had thrown his car keys in the pond. (T. 886) They then saw car lights and he ran with Franklin Delph through the woods. (T. 888) When they were picked up by law enforcement officers in the morning, Ricky first told them a story that he and Franklin had concocted about being chased by a truck. He then told them the truth. John Brock took him back to the scene of the crime. Ricky showed the officers where they had thrown the weapons and other items, and where David's car was abandoned. (T. 891-93)

Over defense objection (see Issue VII, <u>infra</u>), FDLE ballistics expert, Terry LaVoy, testified by means of a videotaped deposition taken to perpetuate his testimony. (T. 1457-1582) He identified a Winchester .22 caliber slight action rifle, commonly called a

"pump," which he said he test-fired twice with .22 long rifle caliber, copper-coated, cartridges from the scene. (R. 1478-80) When he received the weapon, the magazine was empty. (R. 1552-53) When asked by defense counsel, LaVoy examined the Winchester rifle and found that there was no spring in its magazine. He admitted that one could not load, reload and fire the rifle without a spring to push the cartridges into the chamber. (T. 1579-80)

When the prosecutor asked LaVoy how he was able to test-fire the Winchester .22 without a spring, he said his notes did not indicate that the spring was missing. Without a spring, the only way to test-fire the gun would be to place the cartridges, one at a time, in the chamber for test-firing. "Obviously," one could not check the mechanism of the firearm without the spring. LaVoy insisted, however, that he test-fired the gun twice. (T. 1582)

LaVoy also identified a .22 long rifle caliber Marlin semiautomatic rifle (T. 1489) He test-fired it four times. One of the four times, the rifle failed to eject the cartridge case, causing the rifle to jam. (T. 1494-95) He positively identified two .22 caliber fired Winchester cartridge casings found in the victim's bedroom as having been fired from the Marlin semi-automatic rifle, and not from the Winchester pump rifle. (T. 1501-03, 1543) He identified a third casing found south of Sorton's car as having been fired from the Marlin semi-automatic rifle. (T. 1506, 1543)

LaVoy found that a .22 long rifle caliber cartridge with copper plating, taken from the victim's body, could have been fired

from the .22 Winchester pump.<sup>5</sup> He could not, however, positively identify it as having come from that rifle to the exclusion of all others. (T. 1508-12) He positively identified two other .22 long rifle caliber bullets taken from the body as fired from the Marlin semi-automatic to the exclusion of all other guns. (T. 1512-20)

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