FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 23 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN AUSTIN LANDRY,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 81,270

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA
Assistant Attorney General
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Westwood Center
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

(Fla.) cert. denied 482 U.S. 920 (1988) However, there is no requirement that the defense be allowed to delve into matters that are purely speculative and remote to the issue at hand. Clearly, it would be impossible for Young to know exactly how much time he was going to serve after receiving his sentence of seventeen years. The amount of gain time and good time that a prisoner receives obviously varies from case to case and from year to year. As such, this testimony would have been purely speculative.

Additionally, Landry did not ask for a proffer of this statement. As appellant did not attempt to proffer how much time Young believed he would actually serve, there is no way of knowing if it was less than seventeen years. The failure to proffer evidence precludes review of the claim. Lucas v. State 568 So. 2d 18, 22 (Fla. 1990). Further, in light of the fact that the jury was aware of the plea agreement, the fact that he would be subject to gain time and that he was to be sentenced to seventeen years clearly makes any limitation in the questioning harmless.

Appellant also contends that this error was compounded by the Court's denial of the defense motion to disqualify the Assistant State Attorney. (R 718) The defense is entitled to any information the state has with regard to the plea negotiations through the discovery process. In the instant case,

 $^{^{\}mathbf{6}}$ Defense counsel did not ask David Sorton about how much time he would actually serve.

negotiations through the discovery process. In the instant case, however, defense counsel declined to avail himself of the discovery rules. As such, he can hardly be heard to complain because he could not put the State Attorney on the stand to question her regarding the plea negotiations. There is absolutely no support for any claim that there was anything contained in the plea negotiations other than as testified to by Richard Young and David Sorton. Accordingly, appellant has failed to show any harmful error.

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE STATEMENTS OF THE TWO CODEFENDANTS TO BOLSTER THE CODEFENDANT'S TESTIMONY.

At trial, Landry's accomplices David Sorton and Richard Alan Young testified as to the events on the night of the murder. Sorton testified that on the evening of the murder John Landry, Franklin Delph and Rick Young went to the Downs' property. 680 - 83) Sorton testified that John and Franklin were the ones who went into the bedroom and shot Ed Downs. After the murder, Sorton said they threw the guns, the flashlight, wire cutters, and several sets of keys into the pond on the property. (T 713) He testified that when he returned to his car that he discovered that he had thrown his car keys in the pond and although they had tried to hot wire his car, they could not get it started. (T 715 - 783) At that point, they saw a car coming and they (Landry and Sorton) started running in one direction (T 716 - 17) and, Franklin and Rick went in another direction. Rick Young testified to essentially the same facts. Young testified that when they were picked up by law enforcement officers in the morning that he first told them a story that he and Franklin had concocted about being chased by a truck. He then told them the John Brock took him back to the scene of the crime and truth. Rick showed the officers where they had thrown the weapons and other items and where David's car was abandoned. (T 891 - 93)

John Brock testified that after Franklin Delph and Rick Young were picked up by the Hendry County Sheriff's Department that he and Bruce Warren of the FDLE met with the two suspects. (T 1102 - 1104) Both statements from Rick Young and David Sorton were taped and the tapes were played for the jury after the trial court determined that they were admissible to rebut the defense's claim of recent fabrication. (T 1124, 1180)

Despite the counsel's repeated references to the plea agreements and the repeated suggestions of fabrication, appellant now contends the tapes were inadmissible and that they were introduced solely to bolster the witness' credibility. This position is baseless in law and fact.

On cross examination of David Sorton, defense counsel inquired as to the nature of the plea agreement with the state. (T 730 - 736) Counsel specifically asked him, "And if you change your story here today again, this agreement could be null and void; isn't that correct?" Subsequently, defense counsel asked David Sorton:

- "Q. So you lied to the police when you made this report and described the situation how the car was stolen?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you lied to Sergeant Brock when he asked about your involvement in the case?
- A. Well, I didn't actually lie about that. I denied because he thought at the time I was the one that did the shooting; and I denied that I didn't do the shooting.
- Q. Okay.

- A. So that, you could say, I didn't lie on that.
- Q. Your statement was different from the first one you gave him as they were driving you to the county line, and the later one that they taped, right?
- A. Correct. Well, the only part is that I denied the involvement.
- Q. You denied your involvement?
- A. Right.
- Q. But you were involved?
- A. Right.
- O. So that was a lie?
- A. No. Well, not necessarily, because that's when I said I didn't. Because I told the truth on my statement, then it would be not true.
- Q. Okay. And when you went to your aunt, you lied to your aunt, didn't you?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And you made up a story and you told her what had happened to your car; isn't that correct?
- A. The same story, yes. At first, I told the same story to my brother, but then I went ahead and told him.
- Q. Was it more believable the second time you told the story to your aunt? You had practiced it a little bit?
- MS. CHAPPELL: Your Honor, is there a question being posed? I'm going to object.

THE COURT: Objection sustained as to both questions.

BY MR. WOLFENDALE:

And when you went to that fellow's window at two in the morning, you lied to him about what had happened to the car?

- A. Correct.
- Q. You made up a story?
- A. Correct.

(T792 - 794)

Similarly, defense counsel on cross examination of Richard Alan Young asked him about the plea agreement. (T 895 - 901) Subsequently, he inquired of Young:

- Q. Before we get started, let me ask you, how many times have you given a statement?
- A. I gave a statement to the officers on may 3rd, I gave a second statement to the state attorney's office ---
- Q. I'm not asking you specifically what --
- A. I'm not sure what you call that.
- Q. I just want to know the number of times.

MS. CHAPPELL: Your Honor, I'm going to object if he's not going to allow the witness to answer a question.

MR. REITER: I'm asking him to respond, Judge.

THE COURT: Objection sustained, motion is granted. Move on, please.

BY MR. REITER:

- Q. How many times?
- A. I'm asking you, is that in a deposition or statement what I took last week?
- Q. How many times have you told your story to somebody else?

A. Four times.

(T 903)

And then Young was asked:

- Q. Have you had a conversation with the state attorney's office before coming in here to testify?
- A. I had a conversation with Ms. Chappell.
- Q. Did you go over your testimony with Ms. Chappell?
- A. I went through part of it.
- Q. So before you came in here today, you pretty well had a good idea of the questions that were going to be asked of you by the state attorney; did you not?
- A. I can't say pretty good; I can say a few questions.

(T 905)

Counsel also attempted to impeach Young with the deposition given in the instant case. (T 907, 914, 960, 962, 987 - 991) In light of the foregoing questioning, the trial court properly allowed the state to play the taped statements for the jury.

It is well established that prior consistent statements are generally inadmissible to corroborate or bolster a witness' trial testimony. Rodriguez v. State, 609 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1992); Moreover because prior consistent statements are usually hearsay; they are inadmissible as substantive evidence unless they qualify under an exception to the rule excluding hearsay. Id. at 150 citing Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, \$801.8 (1992). The

prior statements Young and Sorton were properly admitted under §90.801(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1991), which excludes from the definition of hearsay the prior consistent statement of a witness who testifies at trial and is subject to cross examination concerning that statement when the statement is offered to rebut an express or implied charge of improper influence, motive, or recent fabrication. Both Young and Sorton testified at trial and both Young and Sorton faced challenges by defense counsel as to their plea agreements and their incentive to lie. As this Court found in Rodriguez, defense counsel's references to a plea agreement with the state during cross examination of both of the witnesses was sufficient to create an inference of improper motive to fabricate. Id. at 500. Accordingly, because the statements in question were given prior to the plea negotiations and therefore prior to the existence of both witness' motive to fabricate they were properly admitted. Rodriguez v. State, 609 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 1992); Jackson v. State, 599 So. 2d 103, 107 (1992); Alvin v. State, 548 So. 2d 1112, 1114 (Fla. 1989) Dufour v. State, 495 So. 2d 154, 160 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1101 (1987).

Nevertheless, appellant contends that although the statements were made within the hours of the murder, it is possible, if one was to believe John Landry's version of the story, that they were able to fabricate John Landry's involvement at the time of the commission of the crime. This argument is sheer sophistry. First, the evidence shows that David Sorton

and Richard Young both left the scene of the crime separately. (T 716-17, 891-93) And, even Landry's own testimony alleged that David Sorton caught up with him in the woods within twenty minutes of Landry's alleged "abandonment". (T 1868) Thus, even accepting Landry's version, from the time Landry allegedly left, it would have given Sorton only twenty minutes to enter the home, commit the murder, ransack the house, have a few drinks, fabricate a story and then catch John Landry in the woods. This claim is ludicrous as it would not have given the accomplices an opportunity to fabricate the story. Furthermore, the inference trial was that the motive to lie concerning Landry's involvement was developed at the time of the plea agreement. such, it was within the trial court's discretion to admit the statements and appellant has failed to show an abuse of that discretion.

Appellant also contends that it was error to play the tape because inadmissible hearsay was presented to the jury. A review of the record shows that any questionable statements on the tape were redacted during the trial. More importantly, while defense counsel made many objections during the playing of these tapes, there were hearsay objections to the now challenged no Therefore, any hearsay challenge is now barred. statements. Furthermore, Detective Brock, David Sorton, and Rick Young were all available for cross examination. Accordingly, any statements made by them were subject to cross examination and, therefore, did not constitute hearsay. Rodriquez, supra. Furthermore,

assuming, it was error to play the tapes, error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 599 So. 2d 107; Alvin v. State, 548 So. 2d 1114.

Appellant also complains that error occurred during the playing of Rick Young's taped statement when Detective Brock stated that they had already spoken to Franklin for an hour and a half. Landry contends that since Delph did not testify and the jury heard he made a long taped statement that this constitutes error because he was unable to cross-examine Delph or anyone concerning the taking of Delph's statement. (T 1164 - 67) This claim is barred and without merit.

At the beginning of the taped statement of Richard Young, the following exchange occurred:

MR. BROCK: All right, now remember you're under oath. Okay? And we've already, I've already talked with, ah, Franklin. All right. In fact, we spoke with him for about an hour. About an hour?

BRUCE WARREN: An hour.

MR. BROCK: All right. He had problems with some questions that we asked him. Okay? And he's already told us that you were in the house. I can tell you that straight up front.

MR. YOUNG: Well, then, that's --

MR. BROCK: Listen to what I'm going to say now. He's already said that you were in the house, --

MR. YOUNG: (Unintelligible)

MR. BROCK: -- but you weren't in the bedroom at the time of the shooting. All right. I want to know what you know about it.

MR. YOUNG: Well, I don't, I don't understand how I can be two places at once.

MR. BROCK: I don't think you were in two places at once. I think you were there.

MR. YOUNG: How can I be with somebody (unintelligible) trying to say I killed somebody.

MR. BROCK: No, I'm not trying to say anything. Oh, I do know that you were there, though. Your name came up from the victim.

(T 1127 - 1128)

No objection was made by defense counsel at that time. Subsequently, defense counsel objected to the admission of statements saying that, "I think at this point, because they know that there is an hour and a half statement from a codefendant who is not in this case, they are going to draw an improper inference from the fact that a statement is not produced and put forth in the courtroom. And it is also in violation of our client's Sixth Amendment Constitutional Rights." (T 1165) The trial court denied the motion for a mistrial and implicitly found that an objection should have been made when the statement was played to the jury. (T 1165 - 1167)

The failure to make a contemporaneous objection bars this claim for review. Furthermore, even if it was error to admit it, the error was clearly harmless. The reference did not show that Delph in any way implicated John Landry in the commission of the crime or otherwise provided any prejudicial information. And, contrary to appellant's assertion, Brock was available for examination on the taking of Delph's statement.

Appellant also objects that there was no proffer of the tapes by the state before it was played for the jury. As the trial court stated upon admission of the statements, if defense counsel had made a discovery request, he would have been given these taped statements. Defense counsel's decision to forego discovery prior to trial, does not give him the right to preclude the admission of evidence. (T 1223, 1224) Furthermore, defense counsel apparently had a transcript of the tapes and was given the opportunity to object throughout the playing of the tapes. (T 1119 - 20, 1123, 1162) As such, no error was committed.

Appellant also complains that the trial court erroneously denied the defense's requested jury instruction that the tapes were for impeachment only. The tapes were not introduced for The tapes were offered to rebut the impeachment purposes. inference of recent fabrication suggested by defense counsel on Furthermore, each of the cases relied his cross examination. upon by appellant to support this proposition all refer to the admission of prior inconsistent statements used for impeachment These cases are clearly inapplicable to the instant case, since these were not inconsistent statements, but to the contrary were consistent statements and not used for impeachment. The admission of these tapes was within the trial court's discretion and appellant has failed to show an abuse of that discretion. Furthermore, any error that occurred as a result of the admission of the tapes was harmless in light of the fact that John Brock, Richard Young and David Sorton all testified to essentially the same facts at trial.

- 49 -

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING CHRIS HOWELL'S HEARSAY TESTIMONY.

Chris Howell was a guest at David Sorton's house at the time of the homicides. (T 1030 - 34) Howell testified that on the night of the murders that Landry and Sorton came home at 3:30 a.m.. They told Howell and Sorton's brother Billy, about the robbery-murder. Howell admitted that he was afraid to testify and was having trouble remembering because he did not want to testify against his friends. (T 1047 - 48, 66)

Appellant contends that Howell's testimony should not have been admitted because he had no independent recollection of the night and that his testimony was based solely on his reading of his prior deposition. This claim is procedurally barred. Even if this claim was subject to review, the admission of Howell's testimony was within the trial court's discretion and appellant has failed to show an abuse of that discretion.

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